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Executive Summary 
Ballad Health is deeply committed to the health and well-being of our communities. By merging  

two legacy health systems, we have strengthened our focus on understanding and addressing the 

socioeconomic factors that impact health. We recognize that health is influenced by more than 

genetics — access to care and health literacy are vital. As the region’s largest employer, we are 

dedicated to collaborating with our communities to create lasting health improvements that will 

benefit future generations. 

Ballad Health and its hospitals have pledged to improve the health of our service area counties by 

focusing on access, quality and population health measures. These metrics enable Ballad Health to 

collaborate with our communities and address the region's health disparities and access challenges. 

Through the Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) process, we have gained valuable 

insights into the health disparities within our communities and prioritized the most pressing issues in 

each hospital's service area. This collaborative approach helps us educate and drive meaningful 

change, ensuring better health outcomes for all. 

To assess the health of those living in our service area, Ballad Health utilized the Mobilizing for 

Action through Planning and Partnerships (MAPP 2.0) framework. This comprehensive assessment 

was conducted from summer 2023 through spring 2024. We gathered primary data through surveys 

with community partners and members, as well as stakeholder meetings. Additionally, we compiled 

secondary data from national, state, regional and county sources. This thorough approach helps us 

understand and address the unique health needs of our communities. 

Throughout the community health needs assessment process, we focused on identifying health 

priorities and disparities within each community. Community members ranked the top three health 

issues in their area, providing valuable local insights. Combining these perspectives with county, 

state and national data gives us a comprehensive view of the region's health. This foundation helps 

us develop effective solutions to improve health outcomes for all. 

The community health needs assessment identified chronic disease, behavioral and mental health 

and obesity and overweight as the top three health priorities in Southwest Virginia, especially in 

Washington County. These issues emerged as the most pressing health concerns based on data from 

various sources, including local perspectives and community surveys. Addressing these critical areas 

allows us to focus efforts on improving overall health outcomes and quality of life in the region. 
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Ballad Health 
Introduction 
Ballad Health is an integrated 

community health improvement 

organization serving 29 counties 

of the Appalachian Highlands in 

Northeast Tennessee, Southwest 

Virginia, Northwest North 

Carolina and Southeast 

Kentucky. Our system of 20 

hospitals, post-acute care and 

behavioral health services, and a large multi-specialty group physician practice works closely with an 

active independent medical community and community stakeholders to improve the health and well-

being of close to one million people. By leading in the adoption of value-based payments, addressing 

health-related social needs, funding clinical and health systems research and committing to long-

term investments in strong children and families in our region, Ballad Health is striving to become a 

national model for rural health and healthcare. 

Ballad Health Hospitals 
• Bristol Regional Medical Center  

• Dickenson Community Hospital  

• Franklin Woods Community Hospital  

• Greeneville Community Hospital  

• Hancock County Hospital 

• Hawkins County Memorial Hospital  

• Holston Valley Medical Center  

• Indian Path Community Hospital  

• Johnson City Medical Center  

• Johnson County Community Hospital 

• Johnston Memorial Hospital  

• Lonesome Pine Hospital 

• Lee County Community Hospital  

• Niswonger Children’s Hospital  

• Norton Community Hospital  

• Russell County Hospital 

• Smyth County Hospital  

• Sycamore Shoals Hospital  

• Unicoi County Hospital  

• Woodridge Hospital 

  

Nearly  

1 million  

residents across the  
Ballad Health service area 

 

 

13,000+  

team members 
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Ballad Health 

Mission 
Honor those we serve by delivering the best possible care  

Vision 

To build a legacy of superior health by listening to and caring for those we serve  

Values 

• Caring 

• Creativity 

• Faith 

• Honesty 

• Quality  

• Respect 

 

Ballad Health was created to address local health needs. We understand that good health is  

about more than healthcare – it’s the story of people’s lives. Located in the Appalachian Highlands, 

Ballad Health honors the traditions and stories that shape our community. We also seek new ways  

to partner with individuals and communities to make our region a healthier place to live and work.  
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Ballad Health 

Territory 
Ballad Health is the region’s largest healthcare provider. Our primary service area includes  

21 counties in Northeast Tennessee and Southwest Virginia, with a secondary area extending  

to six counties in Western North Carolina and two in Southeastern Kentucky.

 

  



8 

Facility Description 

Johnston Memorial Hospital 

Located in Abingdon, Virginia, Johnston Memorial Hospital is a 116-bed modern medical facility 

serving Southwest Virginia. Built in 2011, it’s the first “green” hospital in Southwest Virginia certified 

by LEED and Energy Star. The facility offers a wide range of services, including a 24-hour 

interventional cardiology program, critical care services, diagnostic imaging services, emergency 

services, a family birth center with a full-time pediatric hospitalist team, women’s services, 

laboratory services with direct access testing, outpatient rehabilitation services, palliative care, a 

sleep center and surgical services, including an Outpatient Surgery Center. Johnston Memorial is also 

home to a Regional Cancer Center, which provides comprehensive cancer treatment that includes 

medical and radiation oncology, diagnostic radiology and laboratory services. Johnston Memorial 

prides itself on addressing primary care needs through its Dr. S. Hughes Melton Family Medicine 

Residency and Internal Medicine Residency programs, as well as an Advanced Education in General 

Dentistry residency program, which supports the Appalachian Highlands Community Dental Center. 

Johnston Memorial is recognized as a High-Performing Hospital by U.S. News & World Report, 

earning "High Performing" ratings for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pneumonia, heart 

failure and kidney failure, and it achieved a “Four Star” overall rating by the Centers for Medicare & 

Medicaid Services.  

Scope of services 
• Acute care units 

• Cardiac and pulmonary rehab 

• Cardiac cath lab 

• Center for comprehensive wound care 

• Critical care unit 

• Diabetes care center 

• Emergency care 

• Family birth center 

• Inpatient therapy 

• Interventional radiology 

• Medical-surgical unit 

• Outpatient pharmacy 

• Outpatient surgery center 

• Progressive care unit 

• Regional Cancer Center 

• Respiratory care 

• Surgical services 

• Urgent care 

• Vascular service 

Johnston Memorial Hospital’s 

primary service area covers 
Washington County in Southwest 

Virginia. 
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Evaluation model 

Model selection : MAPP 2.0 

For the Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) of Johnston Memorial Hospital, we adopted 

the MAPP 2.0 model developed by the National Association of County and City Health Officials 

(NACCHO). This updated framework, released in July 2023, builds on our successful use of the 

original MAPP in 2021. MAPP 2.0 enhances community health planning by integrating modern 

practices and tools to address current public health challenges. It emphasizes equity, partnerships 

and data-driven decision-making, making it ideal for our assessment efforts. By implementing  

MAPP 2.0, we aimed to build on our previous successes, produce actionable insights and foster 

sustainable improvements in community health outcomes.  
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MAPP 2.0: Model overview 

Mobilizing for Action through Planning and Partnerships (MAPP), developed by NACCHO in 2001,  

is a respected community health improvement framework. This strategic planning process helps 

communities evaluate public health needs, prioritize issues and create strategies for a unified health 

improvement plan. In 2019, NACCHO updated the framework to MAPP 2.0, incorporating best 

practices and feedback from experts. Tested by fifteen diverse health departments, MAPP 2.0 

emphasizes community engagement, data-driven assessments and health equity. It streamlines the 

process from six phases to three, with new tools and resources. MAPP 2.0 empowers communities to 

identify health priorities, develop effective strategies and mobilize partnerships, fostering sustainable 

and equitable health solutions. 

 

 

 

 

  

Community Partner Assessment 

 

Community Status Assessment 

 

Community Context Assessment 

 

Phase 1

Build the 
Community 
Health 
Improvement 
Foundation

Phase 2

Tell the 
Community 
Story

Phase 3

Continuously 
Improve the 
Community

MAPP 2.0 
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MAPP 2.0: Phases 

Phase 1 : Build the Community Health Improvement Foundation 

This phase sets the stage for the MAPP process. It includes guidance to build strategic relationships 

based on a Stakeholder and Power Analysis, conduct a Starting Point Assessment to take inventory 

of resources and set goals for process improvement, cultivate a shared mission and vision for MAPP 

and develop a common understanding of how MAPP can be used to achieve health equity.  

Phase 2 : Tell the Community Story 

This phase results in a comprehensive, accurate and timely community assessment of health and 

wellbeing based upon findings from three assessment tools. It maintains the need for data and 

information from several perspectives, including qualitative and quantitative, with a greater 

emphasis on understanding health inequities.  

Community Partner Assessment 

Data and conversations about partnerships and organizational capacities.  

Community Status Assessment 

Quantitative data about community, including demographics, health status, SDOH, health equity 

indicators, and across all of these variables, existing inequities.  

Community Context Assessment 

Qualitative data about community strengths and assets, built environment, and current and 

historical forces of change.  

Phase 3 : Continuously Improve the Community 

This phase includes steps to address the social determinants of health (SDOH) and health equity 

through transformational strategies. It encourages strategic partnerships for sustained action, 

through partner profiles and a power analysis that best position partners to address inequity as it 

relates to each community health improvement plan (CHIP) goal. This phase also employs methods 

of continuous quality improvement and rapid cycle improvement to promote sustained, data-driven 

action which allows for building an evidence base through small-scale improvements on existing 

strategies and small-scale testing on new, innovative strategies for health equity action. 
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Methodology 

Phase 1 : Build the Community Health Improvement Foundation 

 

In the first phase of MAPP 2.0, Ballad Health leadership focused on identifying key stakeholders and 

community partners essential for the assessment efforts. To maximize collaboration and minimize 

survey fatigue among community members, Ballad Health aimed to integrate efforts with other 

organizations conducting similar assessments. This collaborative approach ensured a unified effort 

rather than multiple, redundant inquiries. Stakeholders were identified through existing partnerships 

and a comprehensive stakeholder analysis, ensuring broad and effective community engagement. By 

fostering these collaborations, Ballad Health created a Regional Steering Committee that was tasked 

with overseeing the assessment efforts, from design to implementation. 

The Regional Steering Committee was comprised of 15 members and included representation from 

Ballad Health, Tennessee Department of Health, Virginia Department of Health, and the regional 

STRONG Accountable Care Community (ACC), which represents over 400 member organizations. 
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Phase 1: Build the Community Health 

Improvement Foundation  
In July 2023, Ballad Health organized a comprehensive, 

full-day, in-person Kick-Off Retreat for the Regional 

Steering Committee. This retreat set the foundation  

for a thorough and inclusive community health 

improvement process. During this retreat, committee 

members did the following:  

• Conducted a Starting Point Assessment as  

prescribed by MAPP 2.0 

• Collaboratively developed the mission, vision,  

and values to guide the assessment efforts  

• Identified key primary and secondary data metrics  

to be included  

• Formulated questions for a community-wide survey 

• Devised a strategy for collecting qualitative data 
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Phase 1: Community Health 

Improvement Foundation 

Mission 

This group exists to include the voices of all groups within the community, especially those 

experiencing health inequities, to improve population health. 

 

Vision 

A committed collective to build on the strengths of our communities, develop goals to overcome our 

challenges, and inspire our neighbors to work together for a healthier next generation.  

 

Values 

 

 

  



16 

Phase 2: Tell the Community Story 
As outlined in Phase 1 of MAPP 2.0, the Regional Steering Committee played a crucial role in guiding 

Ballad Health's approach to conducting the three MAPP 2.0 assessments. This committee was 

responsible for determining the necessary data to be collected and the methods for gathering this 

information. Their input ensured that the assessments would capture a comprehensive and accurate 

picture of community health needs. 

Additionally, the steering committee contributed to the design of the assessment instruments, 

ensuring they were effective and comprehensive. Through a series of collaborative discussions and 

workshops, the committee identified key metrics and data sources that would provide valuable 

insights. They also worked on tailoring the instruments to reflect the unique characteristics and 

needs of the community, making sure to include metrics that are often overlooked in traditional 

Community Health Needs Assessments (CHNAs). 

The committee's involvement extended beyond data collection and instrument design. They also 

played a vital role in strategizing the dissemination of the surveys and assessments, leveraging their 

networks to ensure broad and diverse participation. 
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Phase 2: Tell the Community Story 

Community Status Assessment (CSA) 

The Community Status Assessment (CSA) involved both primary data collection and the 
compilation of secondary data. 

Primary Data Collection 

Ballad Health conducted a community member survey to gather primary data. The survey was 

developed using evidence-based questions identified through an extensive literature review of 

community-wide surveys. After discussions and guided exercises with the Steering Committee to 

finalize the questions, the resulting survey comprised 44 questions covering demographics, 

community perceptions, access to care, child health and wellbeing, personal health and wellbeing, 

adverse childhood experiences, and resiliency. The survey was available in both online and paper 

formats, and a Spanish version was also offered. It was tested among Ballad Health team members  

before its launch in December 2023 and remained open through March 2024. 

The survey was distributed through various channels. Ballad Health marketing and communications 

assisted with distribution through emails to Ballad Health team members encouraging them to 

participate and share the survey with friends and family and posts on Ballad Health's social media 

pages. The STRONG ACC provided the survey to over 400 member organizations for further 

dissemination among their staff, clients, and contacts. Lastly, Steering Committee members assisted 

in spreading the survey through their respective organizations. For example, the Virginia 

Department of Health assisted in the distribution of the survey through taking the paper version of 

the survey into low-income housing developments.  

Secondary Data Collection 

The Regional Steering Committee played a vital role in selecting secondary data elements for the 

assessment. They focused on highlighting metrics often omitted from Community Health Needs 

Assessments (CHNAs), ensuring comprehensive coverage through discussions and guided exercises. 

The secondary data compilation involved various sources, including the Centers for Disease Control 

and Prevention (CDC), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Tennessee and Virginia Health 

Departments, Tennessee and Virginia Departments of Education, and the United States Census. 

Data was collected at the county level to create specific data packages covering topics such as 

demographics, health behaviors, health outcomes, social and economic factors, physical 

environment, and the healthcare workforce. For comparison purposes, regional averages for the 

Appalachian Highlands, state, and national levels were also provided. The compiled regional data 

packages were not only used in the assessments but also circulated to Ballad Health's community 

partners for presentations, grant writing, and other purposes. 

  



18 

 

Phase 2: Tell the Community Story 

Community Partner Assessment (CPA) 

As a second avenue for primary data collection, Ballad Health launched a Community Partner 

Assessment. This assessment was based on the Community Partner Survey from the MAPP 2.0 

Handbook developed by NACCHO, which was slightly modified to better suit the specific needs and 

context of Ballad Health's Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) process. 

The Community Partner Survey, which was 37 questions in length, explored several key topics, 

including Organizational Information, Populations Served, Technology in Health, Organizational 

Commitment to Health Equity, Organizational Accountability, and Data Access and Systems. These 

topics were chosen to provide a comprehensive understanding of the capacities, challenges, and 

focus areas of community partners involved in health improvement efforts. 

The survey was open from March 2024 to May 2024 and was distributed to various stakeholders, 

including STRONG ACC's 400 member organizations, Ballad Health's Community Health 

Improvement Sites, and other community partners identified by the Steering Committee. This wide 

distribution ensured a broad and representative collection of insights from diverse organizations 

working towards health improvement in the community. 

Community Context Assessment (CCA) 

The Community Context Assessment involved collecting primary, qualitative data to support the 

assessment process. Ballad Health accomplished this by hosting two stakeholder convenings on 

special topics identified through ongoing discussions with community partners. Each convening 

adopted an action-driven approach. Ballad Health compiled data and literature findings to illustrate 

the severity of the issues under discussion, ensuring stakeholders had the necessary foundational 

and contextual information before group discussions. 

At the start of each convening, Ballad Health presented the relevant data and findings. Stakeholders 

then engaged in guided exercises and discussions to generate potential solutions and action items to 

address the identified problems. These discussions also aimed to identify synergies and paths for 

collaboration among community partners. The topics explored in these stakeholder convenings were 

substance use and early literacy. 

  



19 

Phase 3: Continuously Improve  

the Community 
Phase 3 of the MAPP 2.0 framework focuses on the continuous improvement of the community. As 

part of this phase, presentations on Ballad Health's Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) 

process were provided to each of the hospital boards to promote engagement and secure buy-in 

ahead of the development of Community Health Improvement Plans (CHIPs). These presentations 

aimed to ensure that hospital leadership fully understood the CHNA process and were committed to 

the subsequent steps. 

The CHIPs will be developed by each facility based on the CHNA findings and will involve 

collaboration between hospital leadership and community partners in their design and 

implementation. Each CHIP will outline specific, actionable strategies tailored to address the priority 

health issues identified in the CHNA. These strategies will include measurable objectives, timelines, 

and assigned responsibilities to ensure accountability and progress tracking.  

Recognizing the complexity of the identified health issues, Ballad Health emphasizes the importance 

of collaboration, ensuring that all partners have a seat at the table. This inclusive approach is 

essential for addressing the multifaceted health challenges that no single entity can manage alone. 

By fostering strong partnerships and collective action, Ballad Health aims to create effective and 

sustainable health improvement strategies for the community. 

Furthermore, the development of CHIPs will include regular progress reviews and updates to adapt 

to emerging needs and challenges. This dynamic process ensures that the plans remain relevant and 

effective over time, continually improving health outcomes in the community. Through these 

comprehensive and collaborative efforts, Ballad Health is committed to making meaningful and 

lasting improvements in community health. 
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Results 
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Community Status Assessment:  

Community Profiles 
Including community demographics and social determinants of health (SDOH) data in CHNAs is 

crucial because it provides a comprehensive understanding of the factors influencing health 

outcomes in a community. Demographic data, such as age, race, income, and education levels, 

helps identify vulnerable populations and disparities in health status. SDOH data, which includes 

factors like access to healthcare, housing, transportation, and social services, offers insight into the 

broader context affecting community health. This information is essential for identifying health 

priorities, allocating resources effectively, and developing targeted interventions that address both 

immediate health needs and underlying causes of health inequities. By integrating these data, 

CHNAs can better inform public health strategies and policies, ultimately leading to more equitable 

and effective health outcomes. 

In order to provide the necessary context for the remainder of the CHNA findings, secondary data 

related to demographics, SDOH, and health outcomes are provided in the following tables. More 

robust community profiles for Washington County, Virginia are provided in the appendix.   
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Community Status Assessment:  

Community Demographic Profile 
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Community Status Assessment:  

Community Social Determinants of Health Profile 
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Community Status Assessment: 

Community Member Survey Southwest Virginia 

Total Respondents 

A total of 656 community members living in Southwest Virginia 

participated in Ballad Health's community member survey.  

 

 

 

 

Among Southwest 

Virginia respondents, 

the majority (94.7%) 

were White. This was 

followed by respondents 

preferring not to answer 

(2.4%) then more than 

one race (1.8%). 

 

 

 

 

 

Additionally, 93.5% of 

respondents identified 

as not Hispanic or 

Latino, 4.6% preferred 

not to answer and 1.9% 

identified as Hispanic or 

Latino. 

 

94.7%

2.4%

1.8%

0.6%

0.3%

0.2%

0% 50% 100%

White

Prefer not to answer

More than one race

African American or Black

American Indian or Alaska Native

Other

Race
Which race best describes you? (Please choose only one)

93.5%

4.6%

1.9%

0% 50% 100%

No, not Hispanic or Latino

Prefer not to answer

Yes, Hispanic or Latino

Ethnicity
Are you of Hispanic or Latino origin or descent
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The majority of 

Southwest Virginia 

community members 

who answered the 

survey identified as 

women (78.49%). This 

was followed by men 

(18.74%). 

 

 

 

 

Survey respondents 

were asked to identify 

their generational 

group, resulting in 36% 

identifying as Gen X, 

33% as Millennials, and 

22% as Baby Boomers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Additionally, 30% of respondents have a bachelor’s degree, 21% have an associate's degree and 

17% have a master's/graduate degree. 

78.49%

18.74%

2.30%

0.31%

0.15%

0% 50% 100%

Woman

Man

Prefer not to answer

Non-Binary/Genderqueer

I identify in another way

Gender identity
What is your current gender identity? (Please choose only one)

29.86%

21.29%

17.15%

16.69%

10.11%

4.13%

0.61%

0.15%

0% 40%

Bachelor's degree, 4-year degree

Associate's degree, 2-year degree

Master's/Graduate or professional degree or higher

Some college, no degree

High school diploma or GED

Vocational/Technical school

Some high school (9th-12th grade), but no diploma

Less than high school (8th grade or less)

Education
What is the highest level of school that you have completed?

36.39%

33.03%

21.87%

7.95%

0.77%

0% 50%

Gen X (1965-1980)

Millennials (1981-1996)

Baby Boomers (1946-1964)

Gen Z (1997-2012)

Silent (1925-1945)

Age
Which age generation group are you in?
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Survey respondents were 

asked to provide their 

current employment 

status. 80% of 

respondents were 

employed, working  

full-time, 7% employed, 

working part time and  

5% were retired. 

 

 

 

 

 

Among respondents to 

the community health 

needs assessment from 

Southwest Virginia,  

30% households make 

$100,000 or greater, 

21.4% make $75,000 - 

$99,999, and 17.4% 

make $50,000 - $74,999. 

 

 

 

 

 

In Southwest Virginia , 

80% of survey 

respondents have been  

a community member  

for over 10 years, 7%  

for 2-5 years, and 7%  

for 6-10 years. 

79.79%

7.08%

5.16%

3.83%

1.62%

1.62%

0.44%

0.44%

0% 50% 100%

Employed, working full-time

Employed, working part-time

Retired

Disabled, not able to work

Student

Homemaker/Caregiver, not employed

Not employed, looking for work

Not employed, not looking for work

Employment
Which of the following categories best describes your 
employment status? (Choose all that apply)

30.0%

21.4%

17.4%

10.4%

9.2%

6.1%

3.5%

2.0%

0% 50%

$100,000 or greater

$75,000-$99,999

$50,000-$74,999

$35,000-$49,999

Prefer not to answer

$25,000-$34,999

$10,000-$24,9999

Less than $10,000

Household income
How much total combined income did all people living in your 
home earn last year?

80.0%

7.3%

6.6%

6.1%

0% 50% 100%

Over 10 years

2-5 years

6-10 years

Under two years

Community resident
How long have you been a member of the community that you 
currently live in?
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When survey respondents were asked if they identify as members of the  

LGBTQIA+ community, 4% indicated that they do.  

95.8%

4.2%

0% 50% 100%

No

Yes

Sexual orientation
Do you identify as a member of the LGBTQIA+ community?
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Community Partner Assessment:  

Community Partner Survey  

Organization Type 

Ballad Health's Community Partner Survey 

received responses from 54 distinct 

organizations. The majority (55%) were non-

profit organizations. This was followed by 

colleges and universities (15%), schools and 

educational institutions (PK-12) (5%) and state 

health departments (5%).  

 

 

Each county in Tennessee and Virginia within 

Ballad Health's service area is served by at 

least 15 organizations that responded to the 

Community Partner Survey, ensuring the 

survey’s geographic representation of the 

region. Thirty-four of organizations who 

responded to the survey serve both Greene 

and Sullivan County, making them the two 

counties most represented. 

 

Vulnerable Populations Served 

The organizations that responded to the survey 

serve a wide range of vulnerable populations, 

which is vital to ensuring that the needs of the 

most marginalized individuals in our community 

are represented in these survey findings. 

Specifically, 10% of the organizations work  

with low-income individuals, 9% with children, 

8% with racial and ethnic minorities, 7% with 

homeless/unhoused individuals, 7% with 

uninsured individuals and 7% with the 

LGBTQIA+ community. 
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Community Partner Assessment:  

Community Partner Survey  

Service Categories 

 

The organizations that responded to the survey operate across a diverse range of categories, 

including education (7%), family well-being (6%), early childhood development (6%),  

human services (5%), food access and affordability (5%), healthcare utilization (5%) and  

faith communities (5%). 

Health Topics 

The organizations that responded to 

the survey address various health 

topics, which is essential for fostering 

strong relationships between the 

health system and community 

partners. The key areas of focus 

include: family/maternal health 

(11%), health equity (10%), mental 

or behavioral health (9%), healthcare 

access/utilization (9%) and tobacco 

and substance use prevention (8%). 
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Community Context Assessment:  

Regional Stakeholder Convening - Substance Use 
On February 28th, 2024, a significant Stakeholders Convening on Substance Use was held at the 

Langston Centre in Johnson City, Tennessee. The event gathered 55 attendees representing 25 

organizations including healthcare providers, community leaders, policymakers and representatives 

from various local groups. The primary focus was on naloxone distribution, a crucial intervention for 

preventing opioid overdose deaths. 

The convening featured six insightful presentations. Attendees were 

provided an overview of substance use trends and the impact of 

naloxone in the region. Discussions included new laws that facilitate 

evidence-based practices for naloxone distribution and the role of 

faith-based groups in making naloxone accessible to their 

communities. The regional program’s strategies and successes in 

distributing naloxone were highlighted, along with an innovative 

approach where library boxes serve as pickup points for naloxone kits. 

Additionally, the work of specialists dedicated to overdose prevention 

and response in the region was detailed. 

The event also included a facilitated roundtable discussion guided  

by a socio-ecological model of naloxone distribution, developed by 

Ballad Health from an extensive review of literature. This model  

considers the complex interplay between individual, relationship,  

community and societal factors in effectively distributing naloxone and preventing overdoses. 

The convening provided a platform for stakeholders to share knowledge, discuss challenges and 

collaborate on strategies to enhance naloxone access and distribution. It underscored the 

community’s commitment to addressing substance use issues through innovative and evidence-

based approaches, aiming to save lives and improve public health outcomes. 
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Policy

Community

Organizational

Interpersonal

Intrapersonal

INTRApersonal
•Demographics (age, race, environment)

• Fear of legal action as someone with SUD

• Limited knowledge about what naloxone is and how it can 
be used, e.g. (efficacy after expiration, training 
requirements)

•Confusion around insurance coverage for naloxone or an 
inability to pay

• Lack of awareness of how and where to get naloxone

• Fear of discrimination

• Lack of trust in Health Professionals

• Fear and experience of side-effects

INTERpersonal
•No support system or reluctant to reach out for help

•Strained relationships with family, peers, and providers 

•Provider bias and beliefs about naloxone and SUD

•Belief that providing naloxone would lead to continued or 
riskier opioid use in the future (family or peers) 

• Lack of knowledge of legal liability related to naloxone 
administration

• Lack of knowledge about overdose, such as indications for 
use, and prevention

• Lack of confidence or competence in using naloxone

•Misinformation about needing lengthy training in order to 
administer naloxone

Community
•Societal stigma around carrying naloxone

•Community attitude towards individuals with SUD

• Limited access to naloxone in communities, especially 
those lacking adequate health facilities and pharmacies

• Lack of engagement with local community groups, 
churches and schools in opioid overdose education

• Inadequate awareness and training among the general 
public regarding the identification and management of 
opioid overdoses

•Widespread misinformation 

•Rurality

• Lack of Take Home naloxone (THN) Programs

• Lack of knowledge and stigma around low-cost naloxone 
options

• Lack of naloxone distribution directly to impacted 
individuals; e.g. (family members of individuals at risk); 
misalignment of priorities for at-risk individuals

Policy
• Lack of policymaker’s support for free naloxone distribution 
in some high opioid consumption regions

• Lack of legislation addressing the deficit in naloxone 
manufacturing is making the drug more scarce across the 
country

•Regulatory barriers that restrict who can distribute and 
administer naloxone

•Affordability of naloxone 

• Lack of data and tracking for naloxone distribution, 
especially at the local level

• Lack of family-friendly naloxone distribution and outreach

•Packaging/portability of nasal naloxone

Social-Ecological Model 

for Naloxone Distribution 

Organizational
• Lack of training on the importance of naloxone

• Lack of educational training on naloxone administration 
(nasal spray and injection)

• Lack of collaboration with local services such as fire 
department, law enforcement, schools and community 
centers for naloxone distribution

•Misinformation about naloxone within organizations, e.g. 
(the availability of this medication encourages drug use, 
efficacy after expiration, lengthy training requirements)

• Lack of on-site supplies of naloxone for “rescue” dosing in 
case of opioid overdose

• Lack of standardization in prescribing practices for 
naloxone

• Lack of adequate time for healthcare professionals to 
educate patients

• Lack of data and tracking for naloxone distribution, 
especially at the local level

• Lack of prioritization of naloxone in financial budgets/plans 
for organizations that sere individuals that use drugs

Community Context Assessment: 

Regional Stakeholder Convening - Substance Use 
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Community Context Assessment:  

Regional Stakeholder Convening – Early Literacy 

Literacy in the Appalachian Highlands is a pressing issue, with social determinants of health, access 

to basic needs and strategic management all playing a role. During this convening, held on April 3, 

2024 at Bristol Regional Medical Center, emphasis was placed on collaboration among organizations 

to better serve children, remove barriers, improve family engagement and strengthen partnerships. 

There were 44 stakeholders in attendance, composed of community partners who address early 

literacy and early childhood development. 

At the regional stakeholder convening for early literacy, stakeholders were first presented with data 

illustrating the current state of early literacy in the Appalachian Highland region. The data included 

information on third-grade reading levels, the negative impacts of poor early literacy skills, Adverse 

Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and the racial and socioeconomic disparities in the relationship 

between children’s early literacy skills and third-grade outcomes. 

Stakeholders were then asked to participate in a N.O.I.S.E. analysis. N.O.I.S.E. stands for  

Needs, Opportunities, Improvements, Strengths and Exceptions. This strategic planning technique 

helps to identify what works well and determine areas for improvement. Here’s how it was used in 

the convening: 

• Needs: Stakeholders identified essential requirements or gaps that must be addressed to 

improve early literacy, including the need for a more collective impact approach that includes a 

focus on social determinants of health and adverse childhood experiences.  

• Opportunities: Participants explored potential areas for growth or positive change, such as new 

community partnerships or funding opportunities to support literacy programs. 

• Improvements: The group discussed current processes and practices that could be enhanced, 

such as strengthening the literacy workforce and increasing access to early childhood education 

resources. 

• Strengths: Stakeholders recognized existing advantages and resources within the region, such 

as dedicated educators and supportive community organizations that could be leveraged to 

advance literacy initiatives. 

• Exceptions: Unique factors or circumstances were also 

considered, such as the need for a cultural shift that  

values literacy.  

By conducting a N.O.I.S.E. analysis, stakeholders gained a 

comprehensive understanding of the current landscape and 

collaboratively developed actionable strategies to enhance  

early literacy outcomes in the Appalachian Highland region. 
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Health Priorities in Southwest Virginia 
Residents who participated in the community member survey were asked to identify the three  

most important health issues in their community from a provided list. The results indicated that  

the most important health issues were chronic diseases (48%), behavioral/mental health (23%)  

and obesity/overweight (13%). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

47.9%

23.1%

13.1%

5.2%

3.4%

2.2%

1.7%

1.7%

1.3%

0.4%

Chronic Disease

Behavioral/Mental Health

Obesity/Overweight

Oral/Dental Health (including tooth pain)

Chronic Pain

Other

Accident/Injuries (for example, workplace injuries, or car

accidents)

Unplanned Pregnancy

COVID-19

HIV/AIDS

Please identify the three (3) most important health issues in your community.
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Chronic Disease in Washington County 

Diabetes 

Diabetes is a major public health issue due to its widespread prevalence and 

severe health impacts. It can lead to serious complications like cardiovascular 

disease, nerve damage, kidney failure and blindness. Effective management 

through lifestyle changes, medication and regular monitoring is crucial to prevent 

these complications. Public health initiatives focusing on healthy eating, physical 

activity and accessible healthcare can significantly reduce the burden of diabetes, 

improve quality of life and prevent related health issues.  

Washington County has a lower rate of newly 

diagnosed diabetes cases among adults (20+)  

each year (8.1 per 1,000) compared to the 

Appalachian Highlands (11.1 per 1,000), and a 

higher rate than Virginia (8.6 per 1,000) and the 

United States (8.4 per 1,000). 

 

Root Causes 

Survey participants 

were asked to identify 

the three factors that 

most negatively impact 

diabetes in their 

community, essentially 

pinpointing root causes. 

The results highlighted 

diet/nutrition/exercise 

(27%), income/poverty 

(17%) and access to 

quality healthcare 

(16%). Understanding 

these root causes is 

crucial because they 

directly influence the prevalence and management of diabetes. Poor diet and lack of exercise are 

primary contributors to obesity and metabolic disorders, which significantly increase diabetes risk. 

Income and poverty levels affect individuals' ability to afford nutritious food, healthcare and other 

resources necessary for diabetes prevention and management. Access to quality healthcare ensures 

timely diagnosis, effective treatment and education about managing diabetes, which are vital for 

controlling the disease and preventing complications. Identifying and addressing these root causes 

can lead to more effective interventions and improved health outcomes for the community. 

8.1

11.1

8.6

8.4
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Washington County

Appalachian Highlands

Virginia

United States

Newly diagnosed diabetes, per 1,000

27.0%

17.1%

15.8%

11.0%

7.5%

5.8%

4.2%

2.1%

2.1%

2.1%

1.7%

1.3%

0.8%

0.8%

0.6%

Diet/nutrition/exercise

Income/poverty

Access to quality health care and other…

Genetics

Education

Drug/alcohol use

Poor mental health/traumatic stress

Physical environment

Tobacco/vaping use

Adverse childhood experiences

Lack of transportation

Occupational/work conditions

Other

Poor housing conditions

Interpersonal violence/abuse

Please check the three (3) factors that most NEGATIVELY impact diabetes 
in your community

8.1%  

of adults in 

Washington 

County have 

diabetes 
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Chronic Disease in Washington County  

Heart Disease 

Heart disease is a critical public health issue, being the leading cause of death 

worldwide. It includes conditions such as coronary artery disease, heart failure 

and arrhythmias, which significantly impact health and quality of life. Preventing 

and managing heart disease through a healthy diet, regular exercise, smoking 

cessation and controlling risk factors like hypertension and diabetes are 

essential. Effective public health initiatives can reduce the incidence of heart 

disease, save lives and improve overall community health. 

While Washington County has a higher heart 

disease mortality rate per 100,000 than the 

national average, it remains lower than the 

mortality rate for the Appalachian Highlands.  

 

 

Root Causes 

Survey participants 

were asked to identify 

the three factors that 

most negatively impact 

heart disease in their 

community, essentially 

pinpointing root 

causes. The results 

highlighted 

diet/nutrition/exercise 

(23%), access to 

quality healthcare 

(16%) and 

income/poverty (13%). 

These root causes 

crucial because they 

directly influence the prevalence and severity of heart disease. Poor diet and lack of exercise are 

well-known risk factors that can lead to obesity, hypertension, and high cholesterol, all of which 

increase the risk of heart disease. Limited access to quality healthcare can prevent individuals from 

receiving early diagnosis, effective treatment, and ongoing management of heart conditions, thereby 

worsening their cardiovascular health. Income and poverty levels affect individuals' ability to access 

nutritious food, healthcare, and other resources necessary for preventing and managing heart 

disease. Addressing these root causes through public health initiatives can lead to more effective 

interventions, improved health outcomes and reduced heart disease rates in the community. 

167.7

218.9

150.8

164.8
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Washington County

Appalachian Highlands

Virginia

United States

Heart disease mortality rate, per 100,000

5.5%  

of adults in 
Washington 

County have been 

diagnosed with 

heart disease 

23.4%

15.8%

13.4%

13.1%

10.9%

7.1%

4.1%

2.7%

2.2%

2.2%

1.9%

1.4%

1.1%

0.5%

0.3%

Diet/nutrition/exercise

Access to quality health care and other…

Income/poverty

Tobacco/vaping use

Drug/alcohol use

Genetics

Poor mental health/traumatic stress

Education

Physical environment

Occupational/work conditions

Lack of transportation

Poor housing conditions

Other

Interpersonal violence/abuse

Adverse childhood experiences

Please check the three (3) factors that most NEGATIVELY impact heart 
disease in your community
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Chronic Disease in Washington County  
Cancer 
Cancer is significant public health concern because 

it is one of the leading causes of death worldwide. 

profoundly affecting individuals and communities. 

The leading types of cancer include lung, breast, 

colorectal, prostate and stomach cancer. Public 

health initiatives can prevent and ease the burden 

of cancer through strategies such as promoting 

healthy lifestyles, implementing screening and early detection programs and providing effective 

treatments and education about risk factors. 

In Washington County, the cancer incidence rate for all sites is 360.9 per 100,000 population, lower 

than Virginia at 409.4, the Appalachian Highlands at 408.6 and the United States at 442.3.  

Root Causes 

Survey participants 

were asked to identify 

the three factors that 

most negatively impact 

cancer in their 

community, essentially 

pinpointing root 

causes. The results 

highlighted access to 

quality healthcare 

(17.6%), 

tobacco/vaping use 

(15.7%) and 

income/poverty 

(14.6%) as primary contributors. Understanding these root causes is crucial because they directly 

influence cancer outcomes.  Limited access to quality healthcare prevents early detection, timely 

treatment and effective management of cancer, leading to poorer prognosis and higher 

mortality rates. Tobacco and vaping use are significant risk factors for various cancers, 

particularly lung cancer, due to the carcinogenic substances they introduce to the body. 

Income and poverty levels affect individuals' ability to afford preventive measures, 

screenings and treatments, exacerbating health disparities. Addressing these root 

causes through public health initiatives can lead to more effective cancer prevention, 

improved access to care and better health outcomes for the community..Suppressed Data: 

Certain data points or values have been intentionally omitted or masked in this report to protect privacy, maintain 

confidentiality and ensure compliance with relevant legal and ethical standards. This practice helps prevent the identification 

of individuals and safeguards sensitive information. 
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17.6%

15.7%

14.6%

11.8%

8.8%

6.9%

5.2%

5.1%

4.5%

3.9%

2.1%

1.9%

0.9%

0.6%

Access to quality health care and other…

Tobacco/vaping use

Income/poverty

Diet/nutrition/exercise

Drug/alcohol use

Genetics

Occupational/work conditions

Lack of transportation

Education

Physical environment

Poor mental health/traumatic stress

Adverse childhood experiences

Poor housing conditions

Other

Please check the three (3) factors that most NEGATIVELY impact cancer in 
your community

Overall 

cancer 
mortality  
161.6  

per 100,000 

population 

in 
Washington 

County 

104.2  

Breast 

45.7 

Prostate 

72.7  

Lung 

31.2  

Colon and Rectum 

Suppressed  

Cervical 

Rate of cancer incidence, per 100,000                           
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Behavioral/Mental Health in Washington County 

Mental and behavioral health, including suicide prevention, 

is crucial for community well-being. Mental health conditions 

like depression and anxiety can severely impact daily life 

and physical health. Behavioral health issues, including 

substance use disorders, are essential to address for 

fostering resilience and improving relationships. Suicide, a 

significant consequence of untreated mental health issues, 

is a leading cause of death globally, particularly among 

youth. Addressing these issues through accessible mental 

health services, education and support systems is vital for 

early intervention, effective treatment and recovery, reducing the incidence of crises and suicides 

and promoting healthier communities. 

In Washington County the mortality rate for 

deaths of despair, which include suicide and 

drug/alcohol overdose deaths, is 59.5 per 

100,000 population. This rate is lower than 

the rate for the Appalachian Highlands, which 

stands at 65.9 per 100,000 population. 

Comparatively, Virginia as a whole has a 

mortality rate of 41.9 per 100,000 for deaths of despair, while the national rate in the United States 

is slightly higher at 47 per 100,000 population.  

Root Causes 

Survey participants were asked to 

identify the three factors that 

most negatively impact behavioral 

and mental health in their 

community, essentially pinpointing 

root causes. The results indicated 

drug and alcohol use (22%), 

access to quality healthcare (18%) 

and income/poverty (16%) as 

primary contributors. 

Understanding these root causes 

is crucial because they directly 

influence mental health outcomes. 

Substance abuse can exacerbate 

mental health disorders, leading to a cycle of dependency and deteriorating mental well-being. 

Limited access to quality healthcare prevents individuals from receiving timely and effective 

treatment, exacerbating mental health issues. Economic hardship and poverty can lead to chronic 

stress, anxiety and depression, further impacting mental health. Addressing these root causes 

through comprehensive public health strategies can lead to more effective interventions, improved 

access to care and overall better mental health outcomes in the community. 
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65.9

41.9

47.0
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Washington County

Appalachian Highlands

Virginia

United States

Deaths of despair mortality rate, per 100,000

Suicide mortality rate is 23.1 per 100,000 

population in Washington County 

35%  
of adults in 

Washington County 

suffer from either 
mental health or 
substance use 

conditions 

5.7
is the average 
number of poor 

mental health days 
per month for 
residents in 

Washington County 

22.2%

17.9%

16.4%

13.1%

11.6%

5.1%

2.4%

2.3%

2.0%

2.0%

1.7%

1.6%

0.9%

0.7%

Drug/alcohol use

Access to quality health care and…

Income/poverty

Poor mental health/traumatic stress

Adverse childhood experiences

Interpersonal violence/abuse

Education

Tobacco/vaping use

Lack of transportation

Diet/nutrition/exercise

Poor housing conditions

Physical environment

Occupational/work conditions

Genetics

Please check the three (3) factors that most NEGATIVELY 
impact behavioral health in your community
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Overweight/Obesity in Washington County  

Obesity is a significant public health issue because it 

is associated with numerous chronic diseases, 

including heart disease, diabetes and certain 

cancers, leading to reduced quality of life and 

increased healthcare costs. The leading causes of 

obesity include poor diet, lack of physical activity, 

genetic factors and environmental influences. 

Preventing and reducing obesity involves promoting 

healthy eating, encouraging regular physical activity, implementing county-wide health programs 

and providing education on maintaining a healthy lifestyle. Rurality plays a role in obesity rates due 

to factors such as limited access to healthy food options, fewer opportunities for physical activity and 

socioeconomic challenges, making tailored interventions in rural areas essential.  

Washington County has a higher obesity rate, affecting 31.4% of the population, compared to the 

Appalachian Highlands at 30.6%, Virginia overall at 29.5% and the United States at 30.1%. 

Root Causes 

Survey participants 

were asked to identify 

the top factors 

negatively impacting 

overweight and 

obesity in their 

community, 

highlighting root 

causes. The results 

were access to 

diet/nutrition/ 

exercise (28%), 

income/poverty (20%) 

and access to quality 

healthcare (10%). These root causes are crucial because limited access to healthy food and exercise 

leads to poor dietary habits and sedentary lifestyles, major contributors to obesity. Income and 

poverty restrict the ability to afford nutritious food and exercise opportunities, while access to quality 

healthcare is essential for effective weight management and addressing related health issues. 

Addressing these factors through public health initiatives can lead to better interventions and 

improved health outcomes for the community.  
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20.0%

10.3%

7.3%
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6.2%

5.8%

4.3%

3.9%

2.4%

1.6%

1.4%

0.9%

0.8%

0.3%

Diet/nutrition/exercise

Income/poverty

Access to quality health care and other…

Genetics

Education

Poor mental health/traumatic stress

Physical environment

Adverse childhood experiences

Drug/alcohol use

Occupational/work conditions

Tobacco/vaping use

Poor housing conditions

Other

Lack of transportation

Interpersonal violence/abuse

Please check the three (3) factors that most NEGATIVELY impact 
obesity/overweight in your community

5 

Walkability score 

(1=Not walkable, 

20=Very walkable) 

64.0%  

have access 

to exercise 

opportunities 

19.0% 

live within a 

1/2 mile 

from a park 

7.0%  

have low 

access to 

food 

31.8%  

of men  

are  

obese 

31.1%  

of women 

are  

obese 
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Conclusion 
The Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) for Washington County has provided a 

comprehensive overview of the most pressing health issues faced by residents. Utilizing the MAPP 

2.0 framework, Ballad Health effectively gathered and analyzed primary data from community 

member surveys, partner surveys and stakeholder convenings, alongside secondary data from 

national, state, regional and county-specific sources. 

The assessment identified Chronic Disease, Behavioral/Mental Health and Obesity/Overweight as the 

top health priorities, reflecting the community's immediate health concerns. These issues not only 

affect a significant portion of the population but also have far-reaching implications for the overall 

well-being and economic stability of the region. While other health challenges exist, these three 

priorities stand out based on the extensive data collected and analyzed. 

By prioritizing these health issues, Ballad Health and its partners can tailor interventions and allocate 

resources more effectively to address the root causes and improve health outcomes. The 

community's input has been invaluable in shaping this assessment, ensuring that the strategies 

developed will be relevant and impactful. 

Moving forward, the collaborative efforts of healthcare providers, community organizations and 

residents will be crucial in tackling these health priorities. Through continued engagement, data-

driven decision- making and targeted initiatives, we can work towards a healthier, more vibrant 

community for all residents of Southwest Virginia. This CHNA serves as a foundational document, 

guiding future health initiatives and fostering a shared commitment to enhancing the health and 

well-being of our communities. 

  



42 

 

Appendix 



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Secondary Data Tables



Appendix

Secondary Data Tables



Appendix
Community Member Survey Results: Demographics



Appendix
Community Member Survey Results: Community Perceptions



Appendix
Community Member Survey Results: Community Perceptions



Appendix
Community Member Survey Results: Access to Care



Appendix

Community Member Survey Results: Personal Health and 
Well-Being



Appendix

Community Member Survey Results: Personal Health and 
Well-Being



Appendix

Community Member Survey Results: Child Health and Well-Being



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results: Organizational Information



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results: Technology in Health



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results: Organizational Accountability



Appendix
Community Partner Survey Results: Data Access and Systems



References

1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). Data and statistics. CDC. 

2. Tennessee Department of Health. (n.d.). Health data and statistics. Tennessee Department of

Health. https://www.tn.gov/health/health-program-areas/statistics.html

3. Virginia Department of Health. (n.d.). Health data and statistics. Virginia Department of Health.

https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/data/

4. U.S. Census Bureau. (n.d.). American Community Survey. U.S. Census Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/

5. U.S. Census Bureau. (n.d.). Decennial census. U.S. Census Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial-census.html

6. Spark Maps. (n.d.). Health and demographic data. Spark Maps. https://www.sparkmaps.com/

7. Internal Revenue Service. (n.d.). Tax statistics. Internal Revenue Service.

https://www.irs.gov/statistics

8. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (n.d.). Employment statistics. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

https://www.bls.gov/data/

9. U.S. Department of Agriculture. (n.d.). Food access research atlas. U.S. Department of

Agriculture. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/

10. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). Medicare and Medicaid statistical data. 

Centers

for Medicare & Medicaid Services. https://www.cms.gov/data

11. PLACES: Local Data for Better Health. (n.d.). Health data. Centers for Disease Control and

﷟HYPERLINK "https://www.cdc.gov/places"Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/places

12. U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). EDFacts data files. U.S. Department of Education.

https://www2.ed.gov/about/inits/ed/edfacts/data-files/index.html

13. Department of Homeland Security. (n.d.). Homeland Infrastructure Foundation-Level Data

(HIFLD). Department of Homeland Security. https://hifld-geoplatform.opendata.arcgis.com/

14. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families. 

(n.d.).

Child welfare data. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/data

15. County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. (n.d.). County Health Rankings data. University of

﷟HYPERLINK "https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/"Wisconsin Population Health 

Institute. https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/

16. U.S. Department of Transportation. (n.d.). Transportation statistics. U.S. Department of

Transportation. https://www.transportation.gov/data

17. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (n.d.). Housing data and statistics. U.S.

Department of Housing and Urban Development. https://www.hud.gov/data

18. U.S. Department of Commerce. (n.d.). Economic data and statistics. U.S. Department of

Commerce. https://www.commerce.gov/data

https://www.sparkmaps.com/
https://www.cdc.gov/places
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/


19. National Center for Education Statistics. (n.d.). Common Core of Data (CCD). U.S. Department 

of

Education. https://nces.ed.gov/ccd

20. Urban Institute. (n.d.). Debt in America. Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/policy-

centers/cross-center-initiatives/debt-America

21. University of Wisconsin-Madison. (n.d.). Neighborhood Atlas. 

22. Feeding America. (n.d.). Hunger and poverty in the United States. Feeding America.

https://www.feedingamerica.org/research

23. Opportunity Insights. (n.d.). Data library. Opportunity Insights.

https://opportunityinsights.org/data/

24. University of Missouri, Center for Applied Research and Engagement Systems. (n.d.). CARES

data. University of Missouri. https://cares.missouri.edu/

25. Penn State University, Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development. (n.d.). Rural

development data. Penn State University. https://aese.psu.edu/nercrd

26. Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.). Uniform Crime Reports. U.S. Department of Justice.

https://ucr.fbi.gov/

27. Center for Neighborhood Technology. (n.d.). Data and resources. Center for Neighborhood

Technology. https://www.cnt.org/data/

28. Opportunity Nation. (n.d.). Opportunity Index. Opportunity Nation.

https://opportunitynation.org/

29. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (n.d.). Environmental data. U.S. Environmental 

Protection

﷟HYPERLINK "https://www.epa.gov/data"Agency. https://www.epa.gov/data

30. Climate Impact Lab. (n.d.). Climate data and projections. Climate Impact Lab.

https://www.impactlab.org/

31. U.S. Drought Monitor. (n.d.). Drought data and reports. U.S. Drought Monitor.

﷟HYPERLINK "https://www.epa.gov/data"https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/

https://opportunitynation.org/
https://www.epa.gov/data
https://www.impactlab.org/

